IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SHD J. WHITE APR 6 1998 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By

Ohlef Deputy Clerk

į

JAMES E. STEPHENS, Petitioner,

Case No. 92,639

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

DAVID R. GEMMER PO Box 390 St. Petersburg, Florida 33731 (813) - 323 - 3511 Florida Bar # 370541

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A jury found Mr. Stephens guilty of battery on a law enforcement officer and resisting arrest with violence. He waived his right to direct appeal and sought relief from the trial court on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. The trial court granted the relief after a hearing. The state appealed and the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the order for new trial.

The only evidence against Mr. Stephens was the testimony of a Tarpon Springs police officer that Mr. Stephens struck him on the arm during a traffic stop. Two fellow officers said they saw Mr. Stephens take a swing at the officer but they did not see the blow land. R7.35, R7.78-79. The officers also testified that Mr. Stephens resisted arrest with violence.

Mr. Stephens' defense was that he never struck the officer. The driver of the car testified she never saw Mr. Stephens hit the officer. She did see the officers manhandle Mr. Stephens, dragging him from the car, throwing him against the car and to the ground, and getting on him, holding his head to the ground with a foot and kneeing him on the thigh where the bruise later appeared. R7.131-37. Mr. Stephens introduced evidence that he suffered a large bruise to his thigh and some minor injuries as a result of excessive force inflicted by the officers, charges denied by the officers. Mr. Stephens introduced expert testimony from a physician who examined him upon his release from jail on bail two days after his arrest. R7.153-59. In rebuttal, the state presented testimony from Dr. Wilks, the emergency room doctor who examined Mr. Stephens shortly after the arrest.

Only days after the trial, a juror told the assistant state attorney who tried the case that the jury convicted Mr. Stephens because they believed the emergency room physician had rebutted Mr. Stephen's claim that the bruise was inflicted when he was arrested. R37-38 (letter from defense counsel to Mr. Stephens relating the information provided by the assistant state attorney), R703 (assistant state attorney's ratification of the truth of the matter asserted).¹

The trial court held a full hearing on the 3.850 claim. The trial judge, who presided over both the trial and the hearing on the claim only six weeks later, ruled that trial counsel's ineffective representation had deprived Mr. Stephens of a fair trial pursuant to the standard of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The trial judge ordered a new trial.²

The basis for the finding of ineffective assistance of counsel in the order granting relief on the 3.850 motion was that the evidence was confused about when the bruise could have been inflicted. Had defense counsel effectively handled the evidence, the evidence would have actually showed that the bruise had to have been inflicted within the time frame of Mr. Stephen's

¹ The state has never objected to the admissibility of this fact on hearsay grounds, and the fact was, therefore, properly before the trial court to support its findings. *Tallahassee Furniture Company, Inc. v. Harrison*, 583 So.2d 744, 754 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

² The opinion of the Second District and a copy of the motion for rehearing with attachments including a copy of the trial court's order granting relief, record excerpts and the principal case law cited in this brief, are appended hereto pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220. Record references are to the trial transcript ("R76") or to volumes six and seven of the record ("R7.31").

arrest. Instead, the state's case showed that the bruise could only have been inflicted a day or two prior to the arrest.

The Second District reversed the trial court's order. The Second District agreed with the trial judge that there had, indeed, been confusion over when the bruise was inflicted, and that trial counsel "probably was less than effective in presenting this evidence or in cross-examining Dr. Wilks." But the Second District held that any ineffective counsel failed to prejudice Mr. Stephens.

On motion for rehearing, the court's attention was directed to new case law from this Court holding that an appellate court is obliged to affirm a trial court's ruling on a 3.850 motion when the trial court has properly applied the appropriate law, and when there is competent substantial evidence to support the order. The Second District denied the motion for rehearing without comment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision below directly and expressly conflicts with decisions from this Court which hold that a reviewing court must affirm a trial court's finding of ineffective assistance of counsel when the finding is supported by competent substantial evidence. The Second District undertook a reassessment of the evidence, not a review for competency and relevancy. The record contains more than enough competent substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding of ineffective assistance under the *Strickland* standard.

ARGUMENT

The decision below directly and expressly conflicts with recent decisions from this Court requiring affirmance of a trial court's ruling on 3.850 relief when the trial court's decision is supported by competent substantial evidence.

The Second District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions from this Court and others which hold that an appellate court may not overturn a trial court's finding of prejudice under *Strickland* when there is competent substantial evidence to support the finding. The opinion below does not state that the record lacks competent substantial evidence. Instead, it states that the Second District's own reassessment of the evidence fails to support a finding of prejudice.

This Court recently established a standard of review recognizing the deference owed the trial court:

[The defendant/appellant] first claims that trial counsel provided ineffective representation during the penalty phase of the trial. We disagree. This Court set out the standard for reviewing such claims following an evidentiary hearing in *Blanco v. State*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S570 (Fla. Sept. 18, 1997) [now reported at 702 So.2d 1250]:

In reviewing a trial court's application of the [relevant] law to a rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing, this Court applies the following standard of review: As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, "this Court will not 'substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.' " Id. at S570 (quoting Demps v. State, 462 So.2d 1074, 1075 (Fla.1984)). In the present case, the trial court addressed this first claim at length . . . :

The trial court applied the right rule of law governing ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and competent substantial evidence supports its finding. We find no error.

Grossman v., Dugger, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S16 (Fla. Dec. 18, 1997) [emphasis added, footnote deleted].

Despite these provisos, the Second District substituted its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, the credibility of the witnesses, and the weight to be given to the evidence. Given this conclusion, the decision below is in direct and express conflict with *Grossman, Blanco*, *et al*.

The trial judge found trial counsel to be deficient on the following matters:

- Counsel failed to correct the witness who photographed the bruise when he testified he took the pictures on the day of the injury rather than two days later. A correction made during the state's cross-examination of the witness was insufficient to cure the deficiency.
- Counsel failed to recognize the existence, let alone the gravity of the error compounded in Dr. Wilks' testimony. The trial judge specifically found that the doctor's testimony showed the doctor was testifying from the photographs rather than his independent recollection when he testified that the bruise was a day or two old. The trial judge found this error to be "crucial." The trial judge expressly found that had trial counsel caught this error and communicated it to the jury, the jury would have realized that the doctor had no independent recollection. In fact, Dr. Wilks ' testimony corroborated the defendant's position that the bruise was fresh. Dr. Wilks testified the bruise in the photographs

was two days old, consistent with the true state of the facts, that the photographs, taken two days after the arrest, showed a two-day-old bruise. The order below notes the doctor's testimony that the brown tinge to the bruise in the photographs showed it to be more than a day old.

• The trial judge expressly found that this confusion in Dr. Wilks' testimony, compounded by his testimony that the bruise in the photographs could not have been recent, adversely affected the outcome of the verdict.

Despite the competent and substantial evidence cited by the trial judge in his order granting relief, the Second District rejected his findings of fact and held:

Our assessment of the evidence leads us to the conclusion that any alleged deficiency on the part of Stephens' counsel did not affect the fairness and reliability of the trial so as to undermine confidence in the outcome. See Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Our conclusion is only bolstered by the extremely weak nature of Stephens' questionable police brutality defense, which was uncorroborated by any other evidence.

Stephens v. State, No. 97-569, Slip op. at 4 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 9, 1998) [emphasis added].

The only "assessment" a reviewing court is permitted under this Court's standard in *Blanco* and *Grossman* is to review the record to determine whether competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings. Instead, the Second District reweighed the evidence and reached its own de novo and independent decision that the errors of trial counsel did not result in *Strickland* prejudice. The Second District directly and expressly states that a trial court's finding of prejudice under

Strickland may be overturned if the appellate court's own assessment of the facts leads to a contrary conclusion. This directly and expressly conflicts with this Court's holding in Blanco and Grossman that such a reassessment is not allowed.

Mr. Stephens respectfully urges that jurisdiction should be accepted in this case to correct the Second District's error, and to prevent a fundamental injustice. Mr. Stephens faces a substantial number of years of incarceration in this case. To impose this burden after the Second District incorrectly thwarted the decision of the judge who presided over both the trial and the 3.850 hearing only six weeks after trial would amount to a fundamental injustice and deprivation of due process.

To illustrate the compound error found in the Second District's opinion, this Court need only examine the Second District's further observation that "Our conclusion is only bolstered by the extremely weak nature of Stephens' questionable police brutality defense, which was uncorroborated by any other evidence." This statement embodies several misconceptions: that Mr. Stephens' defense theory was solely police brutality; that this defense was extremely weak; that such a defense is somehow questionable; and that it was uncorroborated. None of these observations is accurate.

Police brutality was not the sole theory of defense-the excessive force issue also served to impeach the police officers, who denied using excessive force. If the officers were impeached on this point, then the state's entire case, which was based solely on the testimony of the police officers, would have

fallen. The impact of the issue is emphasized by the juror's post-trial statement that the jury did not believe Mr. Stephens' claim because they thought Dr. Wilks had refuted the claim that the bruise was inflicted at the time of arrest. Thus, if Dr. Wilks' testimony had been properly handled by defense counsel, the jury would have known the bruise was inflicted within the time frame of the arrest, they would have believed Mr. Stephens' witnesses, and they would have concluded that he was innocent.

The impeachment went beyond simply arguing over the justification and degree of force used to arrest. The police officers testified that Mr. Stephens volunteered to them at the arrest scene that he suffered some injuries during the arrest, but that he had a preexisting leg injury. R66, 101. If the jury were to believe the police inflicted the bruise, then they would have to believe the police had fabricated Mr. Stephens' volunteered absolution. A verdict tainted by perjury not entitled to protection. State v. Glover, 564 So.2d 191 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

The Second District relied on the officers' testimony when observed that Mr. Stephens "stated that an unobserved bruise on his leg and the cut on his arm were old injuries." *Slip op.* at 3. While it would be appropriate to rely on this fact to **affirm** an order, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, the Second District, instead, viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the **losing** party. The Second District's reliance on evidence most favorable to the state is also apparent from its observation that "[t]he third passenger also testified that he did not see the officers

beat Stephens." *Slip op.* at 3. This statement completely ignores the testimony of the **second** passenger (actually the driver), discussed *infra*. Also, the "third passenger" couldn't see the violent police encounter because he had been removed to a vantage point out of sight of the arrest. R7.122-24.

The defense of police brutality was not extremely weak or uncorroborated. The driver of the car said Mr. Stephens complied with police as best he could (the victim-officer gave conflicting orders to keep hands on the dashboard and to exit the vehicle, which would have required reaching to unbuckle the seatbelt), that she did not see him strike at the officer, that she saw police jerk Mr. Stephens from the car, slam him against the car, throw him to the ground, and that they were "on him," one officer with a foot on Mr. Stephens' face, another with his knee on Mr. Stephens' leg. R7.131-37. For the Second District to find this did not amount to corroboration can only mean the Second District reweighed the credibility of this witness and found her not credible. There was further corroboration as to the timing of the bruise in the testimony of a "before and after" witness, R7.140-41, and medical reports which showed the bruise had doubled in size and begun to swell from the time Dr. Wilks saw it shortly after the arrest, R25 ("moderate [bruise] approximately 15x20 cm,") to six hours later in the jail infirmary, R27 ("very large (30 cm) . . . with edema [swelling]"). The reports also showed that Mr. Stephens complained that the bruise had been caused by the police during his arrest.

Finally, a police brutality defense is not "questionable." The theory of relief apparently would be grounded on the principle of jury pardon, a principle which is not "questionable." Hayes v. State, 564 So.2d 161 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

CONCLUSION

The Second District Court of Appeal opinion is in direct and express conflict with opinions of this Court. By assessing the evidence de novo rather than by determining whether the trial court's findings of ineffective assistance of counsel and prejudice are supported by competent substantial evidence, the lower appellate court has brought itself into conflict with the new standard of review announced by this Court in *Blanco* and *Grossman*.

The appellate court agrees with the trial court that Mr. Stephens suffered from mistakes his lawyer made at trial. The only debate is whether the mistakes deprived Mr. Stephens of a fair trial. The Second District has thwarted the will of the circuit judge who sat in judgment at trial and, a short while later, at the 3.850 hearing. The trial court and Mr. Stephens, deserve a review that properly honors the will and the findings of fact of the trial judge as required by the decisions of this Court.

Mr. Stephens respectfully urges that the ends of justice require that he be given a full review of the decision below.