ORIGINAL

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 15 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES E. STEPHENS,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC No. 92,639 (2d DCA no. 97-00569)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

 PATRICIA A. MCCARTHY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0331163
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent does not accept the Petitioner's statement of the case and facts. It contains material that goes beyond the content of the decision below. This Court, however, considers only the facts that appear on the face of the district court decision in making its jurisdictional determination. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). The content of the opinion under review determines whether there is conflict. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

The district court decision reflects the following procedural history. (Respondent's Exhibit A)

Petitioner was charged with one count of battery of a law enforcement officer, one count of resisting an officer with violence, one count of possession of cocaine and one count of unauthorized possession of a driver's license or identification card. The battery and resisting charges were severed and tried by a jury, and Petitioner was convicted of battery as charged and of the lesser offense of resisting an officer without violence. He then pled to the remaining offenses and was sentenced on all offenses.

Petitioner's charges arose after police stopped a car in which he was a passenger. For reasons of officer safety, one of the policemen asked Petitioner to exit the car. He began to flail his arms and yell obscenities, refusing to leave the vehicle. As an officer reached over to unbuckle Petitioner's seat belt and pull

him out of the car, Petitioner punched the officer. This precipitated his arrest for battery of a law enforcement officer. He allegedly struggled violently and continued to yell obscenities and eventually required hobble restraints to prevent injury to the officers or to himself.

After the altercation, he complained only of scrapes on his nose and elbow. He stated that an unobserved bruise on his leg and cut on his arm were old injuries. Nevertheless, he was taken to the hospital as standard police procedure. The officers testified that they used the least amount of force necessary to arrest him; no one struck, punched or kicked him at any time. The third passenger testified he did not see the officers beat Petitioner.

The primary thrust of his defense was that he was the victim of police brutality and that which the police denominated resisting arrest was in actuality self-defense. To this end, Petitioner produced at trial photographs of a bruise on his thigh that he contended was the product of an officer's wielding a flashlight or night stick. On rebuttal, the state called Dr. Wilks, the emergency room physician, who examined Petitioner immediately after arrest. Testifying from both his notes and from the photographs, Wilks stated that the leg bruise was more than a day old and would not have been evident immediately after infliction.

Petitioner filed a motion for post-conviction relief, contending that Petitioner's trial counsel was ineffective in

failing to clarify that photographs of Petitioner's leg bruise were taken two days after his arrest and not immediately afterward. The defense contended that had counsel properly elicited this information, the jury could have concluded that the bruise was in fact inflicted by an officer during the incident, and that the effect of the evidence on the jury would have been to create doubt in their minds as to the veracity of the officers' testimony. An evidentiary hearing was held and relief granted on this claim.

ā ī i

On appeal, the district court reversed, holding as follows:

A review of the attachments to the trial court's ruling on the 3.850 motion, together with the record of the evidentiary hearing, reveals that there was indeed confusion concerning when Stephens received the bruises depicted in the photographs. Stephens' counsel probably was less than effective in presenting this evidence or in cross-examining Nevertheless, to prevail on a Dr. Wilks. 3.850 motion, the defendant must prove not only that his attorney made errors so serious that he could not be said to have been acting truly as his "counsel," the defendant must also establish that "counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1996) (citing <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 688 (1984)). Our assessment of the evidence leads us to the conclusion that any alleged deficiency on the part of Stephens' counsel did not affect the fairness and reliability of the trial so as to undermine confidence in the outcome. <u>See Kennedy v.</u> <u>State</u>, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Our conclusion is only bolstered by the extremely weak nature of Stephens' questionable police brutality defense, which was uncorroborated by any other evidence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction to hear the instant case because the district court opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with the opinions cited by Petitioner. The district court's decision does not reflect that it reweighed witness credibility or redetermined facts or weight of the evidence assigned by the trial court. Rather, the district court's decision reflects an assessment of the evidence under the two part <u>Strickland</u> standard for ineffective assistance of counsel. The district court's decision comports, rather than conflicts, with the decisions cited by Petitioner.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THIS APPEAL BECAUSE THE OPINION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT "EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY" CONFLICT WITH THE PRIOR DECISIONS OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OR THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

Petitioner seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Court, arguing that the Second District's decision below expressly and directly conflicts with decisions emanating from this Court in <u>Grossman v. Dugger</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S16 (Fla. Dec. 18, 1997); <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1997); <u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996); <u>Demps v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984); and the Fourth District's decision in <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). The state responds that the cases cited by Petitioner are not in direct and express conflict with the subject decision of the Second District.

To establish jurisdictional conflict under Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const., a petitioner must show that there is an express and direct conflict of decisions. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). The alleged conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

The question is not whether this Court might or would rule

differently, but whether the district court's ruling as it stands can only create vital conflict. Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731, 734-735 (Fla. 1960). As this Court pointed out in Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962), "if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, then no conflict can arise." See also Dep't of Health and Rehabilitative Serv. v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Serv., Inc., 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. conflict may 1986) ("implied" not serve as а basis for jurisdiction).

The Court typically finds jurisdictional conflict in two types of situations. One involves the announcement of a rule of law in conflict with a rule this Court has previously announced. The other jurisdictional conflict arises out of the application of a rule of law, in a case involving substantially the same controlling facts, resulting in a decision contrary to that reached in a prior case. <u>Nielsen v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So.2d at 743. <u>Sub judice</u>, review of the district court's decision reveals that the district court did not announce a rule of law in conflict with a previously announced rule. Nor did it apply a settled rule of law in such a way as to reach a result contrary to an earlier decision involving or turning on the same controlling facts.

Here, in reversing the order granting post-conviction relief, the Second District disposed of Petitioner's claim on the prejudice prong of the <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984),

standard for ineffective assistance of counsel. (Exhibit A) Respondent asserts that in doing so, the district court applied the settled principle set forth in <u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So.2d 567, 571(Fla. 1996), and in <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), that an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review under the test set forth in <u>Strickland</u>. The district court's decision comports, rather than conflicts, with <u>Rose</u> and <u>Thomas</u> because the district court properly reviewed Petitioner's claim under the standard enunciated in <u>Strickland</u>.

Petitioner asserts conflict based on <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 1250, 1252(Fla. 1997), wherein this Court, quoting <u>Demps v.</u> <u>State</u>, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075(Fla. 1984) stated:

> In reviewing a trial court's application of the above law to a rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing, this Court applies the following standard of review: As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, "this Court will not 'substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."

Similarly, Petitioner promotes conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Grossman v. Dugger</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly S16 (Fla. Dec. 18, 1997), wherein this Court quoted the above passage from the <u>Blanco</u> and <u>Demps</u> decisions.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, the district court

decision does not conflict with <u>Blanco</u>, <u>Demps</u>, or <u>Grossman</u>. The Second District's "assessment of the evidence" and assessment of Petitioner's police brutality defense as "extremely weak," "questionable," and "uncorroborated by any other evidence," in analyzing Petitioner's claim under the prejudice prong, does not reflect any redetermination of facts found by the trial court. Nor does the decision reflect a substitution of judgment for that of the trial court on witness credibility or weight of the evidence.

Rather, the Second District's decision reflects its proper resolution of a question of law, namely, whether Petitioner satisfied the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>. Respondent asserts an assessment of the evidence, including the promoted defense at trial, was an integral aspect of the district court's review of Petitioner's claim for the required showing of prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. And, the decision, which reflects an assessment of the evidence under <u>Strickland</u>, does not, as Petitioner suggests, show that the district court substituted its judgment for that of the trial court of facts, witness credibility, or weight of the evidence.¹

Petitioner mistakenly asserts that based on <u>Blanco</u> and <u>Grossman</u>, the only assessment a reviewing court is now permitted to make is to review the record to determine whether competent,

¹Petitioner also seeks to show conflict by reference to the trial record and the trial court's order. The record cannot be used to establish jurisdiction. <u>Reaves</u>, <u>supra</u>.

substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings. (Petitioner's amended brief at p. 6) If such were true, then an affirmance would be required in every case where a trial court, upon making a factual determination supported by evidence, then proceeded to ignore or misapply the <u>Strickland</u> standard or, for that matter, other proper law. Neither <u>Blanco</u> nor <u>Grossman</u> so hold. Review of factual determinations for support does not end the appellate court's inquiry on collateral review, as <u>Blanco</u> and <u>Grossman</u> teach through reasoned analysis therein.

In <u>Blanco</u>, this Court addressed the trial court's findings in denying Blanco's second Rule 3.850 motion in which he sought to present newly discovered evidence. This Court held that the record showed the trial court properly applied the law and its findings were supported by competent substantial evidence. <u>Id.</u> at 1252. In <u>Grossman</u>, this Court found that the trial court applied the right rule of law governing ineffective assistance of counsel under <u>Strickland</u> and competent substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding. <u>Id.</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly at S16. Neither <u>Blanco</u> nor <u>Grossman</u> excuse de novo review of questions of law resolved below.

Here, the district court decision reflects proper review of whether Petitioner satisfied the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>. Resolution of this question of law, upon review of the evidence, did not result in direct and express conflict of the district court opinion with the above-mentioned decisions.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons, arguments, and citations to authority, this Honorable Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction to consider the instant appeal.